The Constitution of the Graduate Student Association Of The New Mexico Institute of Mining and Technology



Table of Contents:

Preamble	1
Article I. General Matters	1
Article II. Definition of Terms	1
Article III. GSA Members	2
Article IV. GSA Council	3
Article V. GSA Officers	4
Article VI. Faculty Advisement	6
Article VII. Amendment Process	6
Article VIII. Finances	6
Article IX. Bylaws	7
Article X. Limitations of Constitution	7

Preamble

We the graduate students of New Mexico Institute of Mining and Technology, in order to form a more perfect association, to provide for a representative body, to promote student shared governance, to participate in the policy and decision-making processes of the Institute, to foster an environment which will promote academic growth, to promote communications and understanding within the University community and beyond, and encourage awareness of and participation in a democratic society, do hereby establish this Constitution for the New Mexico Institute of Mining and Technology Graduate Student Association, hereafter known as the GSA. The GSA's powers, authorities, privileges, and legitimacy, are derived from the consent of the Student Body

Article I. General Matters

The Graduate Student Association does not discriminate on the basis of age, race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, national origin, veteran status, or genetic information in the admission to, or participation in, its membership or any program or activity which it conducts, or in any policy or practice.

The place and manner of GSA elections shall be prescribed by GSA bylaws.

GSA Officers and GSA Council may establish Special/Ad Hoc committees to be governed by GSA bylaws. The GSA will also nominate students to Institute committees, as needed.

The GSA Constitution shall take precedence over all bylaws or other GSA documents.

Article II. Definition of Terms

Bylaws

Portions of this document which enact sections of the Constitution, to follow all articles and amendments or maintained as a separate document. A bylaw may be changed by simple majority vote of the GSA Officers.

Cause for Removal

Reasons for cause for removal could be willful neglect of office, gross misconduct, or malfeasance.

Constitution

Portions of this document passed by the GSA Membership and certified by the Graduate Office of the New Mexico Institute of Mining and Technology. This constitution may be changed by an amendment process, to be defined at the end of this document.

Graduate Program

Any degree program at the institute that awards a degree of the rank of Master or Doctorate.

Graduate Student Association or GSA

The organization being established in this document.

GSA Council

The GSA Council serves as the primary legislative body of the GSA and shall consist of student representatives of graduate program departments. GSA council members shall be established during the fall semester and spring semester, if needed.

Institute

The New Mexico Institute of Mining and Technology, all of its departments and policies.

Quorum

Quorum or the minimum number of participants needed to conduct official business shall be defined as at least 50% of the GSA council members present.

Article III. GSA Members

Any graduate student registered at the New Mexico Institute of Mining and Technology who has paid a student activity fee for the current semester or the previous semester in the case of summer, barring exceptions listed below.

- 1. Each member shall have the right to vote in elections, to debate at meetings, and to participate in all activities of the Association except as provided otherwise in this Constitution or its bylaws.
- 2. A member of the GSA may resign their membership, by submitting a record of their resignation to the GSA.
- 3. By a two-thirds vote of GSA Council Members and Officers, a member of the GSA may be expelled. This must be done in agreement with the Dean of Graduate Students.

Article IV. GSA Council

Every department with a graduate program at the Institution shall be guaranteed a minimum of one representative, who are called "Department Representatives". The Department Representatives will be the members of the GSA Council. Departments must have a Department Representative to receive funding.

- 1. Requirements to be a Department Representative
 - A department representative must be a member of the GSA, as defined in Article II.
 - 1.2. Department Representatives must be in good academic standing, as defined by the Institution.
- 2. Responsibilities of Department Representatives
 - 2.1. Department representatives are responsible for participating in and taking minutes of GSA meetings, to be reported back to all graduate students of their department.
 - 2.2. Department representatives will also serve on GSA committees as needed.
- 3. Allocation of additional departmental representatives shall be established in the GSA bylaws on the condition no bylaw explicitly favors a specific degree program, department, or individual to maintain membership of the GSA council at a productive and useful level.
- 4. Removal of Department Representatives
 - 4.1. A motion to remove a department representative from their position may be put forward with cause by any department representative or GSA officer.
 - 4.2. As necessary, the presiding officer shall be the highest-ranking GSA officer in precedence; with that failing, an elected member of the GSA council.
 - 4.3. Removal requires a majority vote of present Department Representatives and GSA officers.
- 5. Department Representatives are forbidden any regular form of financial compensation.
- 6. Departments shall choose representatives from amongst their graduate student population.
 - 6.1. This selection may be made by any means that does not favor a specific student or group of students, except in the case of degree progress.
 - 6.2. Selection methods may be reviewed by the GSA Council or Graduate Office for fairness.
- 7. The undergraduate equivalent of this body at the Institution (at the time of writing, the Student Government Association) shall allow one representative on the GSA council to be selected by any reasonable manner of their choosing.

Article V. GSA Officers

For performance of regular operations and functions, the GSA establishes the role of Officers.

- 1. Requirements to be an Officer.
 - 1.1. An Officer must be a member of the GSA, as defined in Article III, and must intend on remaining so for the duration of the academic year they serve.
 - 1.2. Officers must be in good academic standing, as defined by the Institution.
 - 1.3. An Officer may not be serving concurrently as a department representative.
- 2. General Authorities and Responsibilities
 - 2.1. Officers are responsible for continuity of GSA, including mentoring new officers in their elected roles to ensure a successful transition.
 - 2.2. Officers must maintain confidentiality of students and administrators.
- 3. Officers shall be elected by the general graduate student body, with the method of election established in the GSA bylaws.
- 4. Removal of Officers
 - 4.1. A motion to remove an officer from their position may be put forward with cause by any department representative or GSA officer.
 - 4.2. As necessary, the presiding officer shall be the highest-ranking GSA officer in precedence; with that failing, an elected member of the GSA council.
 - 4.3. Removal requires a majority vote of GSA officers.
- 5. These officers are enumerated and described, in order of precedence. New officer positions created by amendment of this document follow in precedence in order of creation.
 - 5.1. President
 - 5.1.1. The President of the GSA is responsible for running and scheduling GSA meetings, on the advice and consent of fellow officers and the GSA council.
 - 5.1.2. The President shall attend the meetings of the Institution's Graduate Council and President's cabinet meetings, as representative of the GSA and therefore graduate students.
 - 5.1.3. The President shall attend the meetings of the Institution's Board of Regents, as representative of the GSA and therefore graduate students, with the preparation of a report.
 - 5.1.4. The President shall act as a means of communication and negotiation between the administration of the Institution and the graduate student body of the Institution.
 - 5.2. Vice President

- 5.2.1. The Vice President shall attend SGA meetings as a GSA representative.
- 5.2.2. The Vice President shall keep track of department representatives.
- 5.2.3. The Vice President shall keep track of various Institutional committee representatives and GSA committee members
- 5.2.4. The Vice President Shall attend the meetings of the Institution's Faculty Senate as a representative of the GSA and therefore graduate students with all of the rights and responsibilities afforded by the Faculty Senate.
- 5.2.5. The Vice President shall assist with the responsibilities of other officers as needed.

5.3. Treasurer

- 5.3.1. The Treasurer shall maintain a record of all incoming funds.
- 5.3.2. The Treasurer shall budget GSA funds and allocate accordingly.
- 5.3.3. The Treasurer shall manage expenditures for the GSA in conjunction with officers.

5.4. Grant Officer

- 5.4.1. The Grant Officer shall set grant priority deadlines and ensure grants applications are reviewed in accordance with the schedule established in GSA bylaws.
- 5.4.2. The Grant Officer shall organize and oversee grant committees that will award grants.
- 5.4.3. The Grant Officer shall advertise priority grant date conjunction with the Communications Officer.

5.5. Communications Officer

- 5.5.1. The Communications Officer shall maintain the GSA website and all necessary forms for GSA business.
- 5.5.2. The Communications Officer shall take official minutes during GSA meetings, recording all proceedings.
- 5.5.3. The Communications Officer shall advertise GSA events in conjunction with the Events Officer.
- 5.5.4. The Communications Officer shall advertise upcoming GSA meetings in conjunction with the GSA President.

5.6. Events Officer

- 5.6.1. The Events Officer shall plan, organize, and execute GSA events.
- 5.6.2. The Events Officer shall manage volunteers at GSA events.
- 5.6.3. The Events Officer shall manage expenditures for GSA events in conjunction with the Appropriations Officer.
- 5.6.4. The Events Officer shall advertise GSA events in conjunction with the Information Officer.

Article VI. Faculty Advisement

The GSA is a student organization, elected by its constituents (GSA members detailed in Article III) and in accordance with the rules of the institution must have a faculty advisor. The faculty advisor for the GSA shall be, for the duration of the office's existence, the Dean of Graduate Studies ("Graduate Dean").

- 1. The faculty advisor serves as a non-voting member of the GSA Council, welcome to attend all meetings and offer advice to the GSA.
- If this office does not exist, the faculty advisor shall be decided by the GSA Council.

Article VII. Amendment Process

Changes to the GSA constitution may be enacted by a two-thirds vote of the GSA Council with one-half of the Council present for the vote.

- 2.1. Upon approval by the Council, the amendment must be ratified by a two-thirds vote by participating non-Council GSA members.
- 2.2. This approval process may be conducted electronically but must be made available to all eligible GSA members. Voting polls, established by the GSA officers, must remain open no shorter than one week and no longer than two weeks.
- 2.3. Upon approval by the participating non-Council GSA members, the amendment shall be certified by the Graduate Office of the Institution.
- 2.4. Amendments to the Constitution shall take effect after presenting the constitution to the President's Cabinet, Dean of Students and Board of Regents

Article VIII. Finances

The manner of GSA finances shall be prescribed by GSA bylaws.

- 1. Additional Funds
 - 1.1. For petty funds, distribution of funds will be decided amongst all officers.
 - 1.2. For amounts greater than the established petty amount, distribution of funds will be decided by the GSA Council.
 - 1.3. What amounts to petty funding will be established in the GSA bylaws.

2. Grants

- 2.1 The GSA shall use a portion of their budget to fund grants for GSA members in order for them to make progress in their degree program.
- 2.2 The frequency and span of grants will be established in GSA bylaws.
- 2.3 The date of grant periods must be available upon demand.
- 2.4 A maximum number of awards to or applications by an individual may be established in the bylaws.

Article IX. Bylaws

The GSA Officers and GSA Council shall enact bylaws to implement the provisions of this Constitution.

- 1. Bylaws will be enacted upon a majority vote of the GSA officers and quorum approval by the GSA Council.
- 2. Should the GSA Council reject an amendment to a set of bylaws, the bylaws shall return to the appropriate body with a rationale and advice on how to reconcile the proposed amendment with the GSA Council.
- 3. GSA Committees shall petition to amendments to GSA bylaws to GSA Officers and GSA Council.

Article X. Limitations of Constitution

- 1. All elements of this constitution may be superseded if they conflict with local, state, and/or federal laws and regulations that the Institution, its organizations, or the students of the Institution must abide by.
- 2. All operations of the GSA will be conducted in accordance with local, state, and/or federal laws and regulations that it is held to.
- The list of responsibilities and rules in this constitution is not exhaustive, and it
 may be necessary for the GSA Council and Officers to interpret and expand upon
 these rules. Final deferment of interpretation of rules shall be the responsibility of
 the Graduate Dean of the Institution.